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Fifty Years


THE YEAR OF 2022 marked the fiftieth anniversary of a story that has never been finished, one that is constantly revealing new insights about what happened in the Andes in 1972, and about ourselves, because the passage of time doesn’t bury this story; on the contrary, it gives new life to it through a continual reinterpretation of the facts, just like how the very balance between life and death never fully rests on one side or the other.


After the publication of La Sociedad de la Nieve in 2008, I kept in touch with the survivors, with the families of those who died, and with others close to the story, like the Uruguayan Air Force members who helped search for the missing plane. One of these was the captain in charge of the final expedition in January 1973 to the crash site to try to look for clues that would shed light on the cause of the crash and to bury the dead.


What happened in the Andes was so enormous that it became a sort of magnifying glass, focusing on the important things and exposing the insignificant things. The first lesson the survivors learned was like a metaphor: the cold coming in through the gaping hole in the back of the plane was frigid, but if they huddled together to leave as little of their bodies exposed to the cold as possible and, fundamentally, if they embraced one another, they wouldn’t freeze to death. ‘Punch me, breathe on me, hug me, warm me up,’ they said to whomever was next to them.


From then, they went about discarding all the biases and trivialities of everyday society, which not only didn’t help them but hurt them in that catastrophic situation, in the worst place imaginable, lost, abandoned. Contrary to what apocalyptic fiction predicts, the human mob, the ‘every man for himself’ scenario, did not happen here. Instead what arose was a spirit of harmony and solidarity, where the most important thing was to take care of those who were most injured: their salvation was in each other, treating each other with compassion and mercy, because every time one of them died, they all died a little.


The pact of mutual self-surrender, when they decided that if they died the others could use their bodies as food so that at least some of them could get out alive, meant that they would escape from that place, whether themselves or in the muscles of their friends. They all knew that they were survivors and nourishment at the same time. Those who made it to the other side knew that they would come back for the others, and for the twenty-nine who would never come back alive whose families needed to know what had happened.


On 22 December, after being suddenly thrust from the society of the snow into regular society, the survivors had trouble adapting because they carried with them all they had gone through in the snow, so deep it was a part of their bodies and souls; a link that could not be easily broken and that could never be fully forgotten. It was hard for them to sleep horizontally, the incomprehensible racket of everyday life disturbed them greatly, the constant car horns and noises of the city sounded deafening to them because they still feared that noise would cause an avalanche. Their unique situation meant that, at first, they could only feel comfortable with each other. Their families refer to it as a subtle veil that enveloped them, initially to protect them from the outside world. But then the veil changed, though without lessening in intensity, to preserve their nascent society.


Some of them even regretted leaving that world where they had lived through such vastly singular experiences. ‘When we left, after the rescue, the plane was getting smaller and smaller as we flew away from it,’ says Coche Inciarte. ‘I left behind seventy-two days of continual suffering in body, mind and soul, without a single moment of peace, except for when I died. And I thought that something good came out of it all; the peace I had found in death should be reachable again in normal life, and at times I have managed to feel it.’ Daniel Fernández Strauch never wanted to return to the crash site because he didn’t want the lessons he learned there, which he carried in his soul, to fade away, and which he intends to preserve as long as he lives. Gustavo Zerbino cried when the helicopter flew away from the site: ‘I don’t know whether they were tears of happiness or tears of sorrow.’


They experienced absolute uncertainty, true solitude, and upon their return they felt an infinite gratitude for being alive. They are fighters; they don’t give up, they don’t lose hope. They overcame conventional fear and become more curious than they are afraid, which gives them a unique confidence and trust in themselves. Whether consciously or unconsciously, they know that everyone has a second chance, even another chance for redemption.


The Countdown


From the moment of the crash, the situation was so desperate that a cruel clock was set in motion, beginning a countdown, a crazed and blind search for the light at the end of the tunnel, which finally ended when the expeditionaries saw Sergio Catalán, the mule driver, in the Chilean foothills. Until that moment they were in a race against time, with only fragmentary information, surviving through trial and error (even the escape to the west ended up being misguided), always balancing precariously on the very line between life and death.


During the crash, sixteen people died and twenty-nine remained alive. In the end those numbers were reversed, sixteen alive and twenty-nine dead. They learned that the longer they delayed their escape, the more people died from wounds, freezing, starvation, and unforeseen events like the avalanche. They could also die from terrible infections once the weather was warmer, infections that plagued their defenceless, emaciated bodies, infections that were held at bay in the winter temperatures of minus 30° C. But at the same time, if they tried to escape too soon, the risk was tremendous as well because they could all perish, as they discovered when they climbed on the eleventh day, after which two of the three expeditionaries, Daniel Maspons and Numa Turcatti, ended up dying.


They thought that things couldn’t get any worse, but they learned, with the avalanche on 29 October, that this belief was wrong. Things could always get worse. They were in the depths of a chasm that had no bottom.


The countdown ran for everybody. Mostly for the wounded, because time was really running out for them. But it was also crucial for the expeditionaries, who were the ones risking their lives and weighing factors as extreme and mysterious as the fact that if they left earlier than was prudent (a concept that died on the mountain, because the entire ordeal was reckless), they would endanger the lives of all the others.


This perspective of time ruled, in a maddening way, the whole experience. How to measure time when it is at the expense of your friends who are dying, how to weigh the number of corpses that are left to feed you, how to predict the damage caused by rampant starvation when they know, from first-hand experience, that there is a point of no return? A time will come when no matter how hard they exert themselves, it will be impossible to climb that mountain.


The clock that symbolised that countdown, the race against time, was the dead. There are no statistics, no experience, no theories, because nothing remotely like this had ever happened before. They all suffered, and there is no way of measuring the intensity of that suffering. Those who were sucked out into nothingness when the plane crashed against the top of the mountain and split in two; those who flew out when the fuselage slid at a dizzying speed down the slopes of the Andes; those who were crushed to death by metal and seats when it came to an abrupt stop against the hard-packed snow. Those who died in the first night after the crash; those who died later from their injuries; the eight who died buried beneath the avalanche. And the three who survived through the majority of the ordeal and were the driving force behind the departure of the expeditionaries. They struggled as hard as possible to live, they made the pact of mutual surrender of their bodies, and they suffered the humiliation of having to eat the dead, the claustrophobia of the avalanche. They lived through all of the agony but were left behind, never getting their just rewards.


This half-century mark is a fitting time to focus on those who never came back from the mountain, those who left a painful rift in their families and friends, wounds which have never healed.


Of those wounded during the plane crash, the last to die was Susy Parrado, Nando’s sister.


The eight who died in the avalanche did everything they could, and more, to save themselves and all the rest of them.


The difficult task of acclimating them abruptly to the society of the snow fell to Marcelo Pérez del Castillo, and it was one he tackled with courage and kindness, with an integrity that coloured the entire ordeal, right down to the last moment.


Juan Carlos Menéndez, who only knew Numa Turcatti and Pancho Delgado, and who was on the plane by a twist of fate, was always ready to do whatever was needed, with his humble demeanour, never making a fuss about anything.


Enrique Platero, who was exceptionally fit, displayed more grit and tenacity than anybody else: right from the start he ignored his own terrible stomach wound, which was bleeding and sapping his strength, and helped with all the difficult tasks at hand.


Diego Storm, a hard-working second-year medical student, although not an ‘army medic’ like Roberto Canessa or Gustavo Zerbino, used all his knowledge and tenderness to save Nando Parrado and take care of the wounded from the first moment of the disaster.


Airforce specialist technician Carlos Roque, the plane’s mechanic, lost his chain of command after the crash. But in his aeronautic training he had learned clearly the concepts of discipline and military hierarchy, and by those rules he was in charge of that Air Force plane, even if it was nothing more than a heap of twisted metal. At home in Montevideo he had a one-and-a-half-year-old son waiting for him. However, he joined the group and helped however he could, and it was on his advice that the survivors looked for the tail of the plane, where the batteries were, to try to make the radio work.


Daniel Maspons, the only boy in a family of four sisters, fought desperately to survive because he knew that if he didn’t make it home his father would never recover, and that fear was one of the reasons he went on that ill-advised expedition on the eleventh day, where they learned just how dire their situation was and how lost they were.


Gustavo ‘Coco’ Nicolich was a fighter, and his personality shines through the two letters he wrote while on the mountain, written with a shaking hand, not knowing if and when anyone would ever read them, illustrating the grey area where hope and anguish live in the same breath, since they already existed on a level of consciousness that was neither real nor unreal. He mentions that those who undertook the first expedition on the fourth day ‘proved to be the strongest of those still alive’, among them Numa Turcatti, and mentions the part of the ‘doctors’, Canessa, Zerbino and Diego Storm. He also confronts their most difficult issue with courage and honesty. ‘One thing that will seem unbelievable to you, as it does to me; today we began to cut up the dead bodies to eat them, we have no other choice … Since all that really matters is the soul, I don’t feel too bad about it and if the day comes when my body could save the others, I would give it over gladly.’


Liliana, with her four children waiting for her back in Montevideo, was the mother of the airplane, and one touch from her did more than all the medicine they were lacking. That’s why her eldest daughter, María Laura, who was ten years old in 1972, tells me now that ‘Mama was just the same at home as she was on the mountain’. In the letter that Liliana wrote in the Andes on 23 October, shortly after they heard on the little radio that the search had been called off, she says, ‘I think that this is a test from God. If we get out of here, it will be an experience that will stay with me forever. If we don’t, then I hope God looks after my children and that they won’t blame Him for any of this. To each their own fate. I hope the family will take care of them; I don’t want to name anyone specifically, I’m sure they’ll figure out who will take care of them.’ At the end of the letter she says, ‘You can’t imagine what a lovely group of young men we have here with us.’


After the avalanche, death was walking right next to them. They couldn’t live for long in the fuselage and they had to get out as soon as possible, though they had no idea how, where they would go, or when. The death of the last three marked the final stretch, when time sped up exponentially. The more they pushed and the more they suffered, the shorter their deadlines became; they were no longer measured in days or even hours, but in heartbeats that were growing ever weaker. ‘If they don’t hurry, I won’t make it,’ the steadfast Rafael ‘Basque’ Echavarren told his friend, Daniel Fernández Strauch.


The death of Arturo Nogueira on 15 November precipitated the departure of the three expeditionaries, who left two days later, on the seventeenth, towards the east. That’s when they found the tail of the plane and discovered the key to staying alive overnight in the elements, the insulating material they used to make the sleeping bag. Arturo, twenty-one years old, was a sensitive and intelligent young man, an Old Christians rugby player and good at all sports. As he says in the letter he wrote to his family on the mountain, one of his legs was broken in the crash and the ankle of his other leg was badly sprained, leaving him completely unable to move. He spent almost all his time in the hanging hammocks, along with the Basque Echavarren. Coche Inciarte describes how he met him when he came out of the fuselage to help with the task he could manage, melting snow to make water. ‘When we managed to make water, I saw for the first time the deep compassion that came to characterise our time on the mountain. Arturo Nogueira made a litre of water that was pink, because he was using a bottle that still had a little bit of wine in it. He began to pass the bottle around without drinking any of it himself first, waiting until everyone else had had some. There were twenty-seven of us alive at that point, there was barely enough for each of us to wet our lips with it, and nobody took more than that. But when the bottle came back to Arturo it was empty, and if we hadn’t had so much sun to melt more, he would have gone two days without drinking any water. He hadn’t done it for himself, he had done it for all the rest.’


By November, Arturo was fading fast. His earlier conversations about life in society, about utopia, became metaphysical, highlighting something they were all experiencing: spirituality grows stronger as the end approaches. The letter he wrote to his family and his girlfriend shortly before his death ended with ‘Be strong – life is hard, but it is worth living, even in suffering. Courage.’


On 3 January 1973, Arturo’s father wrote a letter on behalf of his family to the Uruguayan newspaper La Mañana, which was a solace to the survivors: ‘These short lines, written from the heart, wish to pay public homage, in admiration and recognition of the sixteen young heroes who survived the tragedy of the Andes.’ Further on, he writes ‘We invite every citizen of our country to spend a few moments in meditation of the monumental example of solidarity, courage and discipline that these boys have shown us, in the hope that it will help us all to learn to set aside our petty egos, needless ambitions, and disinterest in our fellow man.’


The Basque Echavarren died on 18 November, one day after the expedition towards the east set off. ‘The Basque offered to hike out, he stood up but fell again because his leg was so badly injured. The tissue where we had tried to reattach the torn muscle hadn’t knit together and healed without antibiotics. That’s when I said, “The Basque wants to walk out of here with only one leg, and all of you with two are hesitating,”’ remembers Gustavo Zerbino.


Daniel Fernández relates. ‘When I went up in his hammock to keep him company, I would ask him if he was in pain, or if he was cold, and he always said no, that he was fine. But I knew how much he must have been hurting because if I so much as brushed against his injured legs he would flinch. And I knew how cold he must have been, because I was freezing when I slept next to him up in the hammocks. But he never complained, knowing that in that hell, his negativity would only add to the anxiety.’


The Basque didn’t write letters – ‘I’m not writing because I’m going to tell them in person.’ Daniel Fernández was the first to return to Montevideo, along with Bobby François, on the afternoon of 24 December. He wanted to go back as soon as possible and get out to the countryside, into the green nature, away from people harassing him, but he had a crucial commitment to take care of as soon as he arrived that he couldn’t delay: ‘I was the letter that the Basque never wanted to write.’ In the car, riding home with his parents from the airport, his father told him something that stunned him: during the agonizing limbo period of the search, his father had struck up a deep friendship with Ricardo Echavarren, the Basque’s father, the two of them constantly exchanging information about the search, studying the Cordillera, which Ricardo flew over in small planes, moving heaven and earth in search of his son. A friendship similar, in fact, to the one Daniel had with Ricardo’s son on the mountain. As soon as they got home, his father called Ricardo, as Daniel requested. The next morning, very early on 25 December, the Basque’s whole family came: his parents, his three sisters and his girlfriend. Daniel started to talk, telling them all about the Basque’s hardships on the mountain, about his strength and composure. The Basque’s family listened to Daniel in silence, nobody moved a muscle, and even though the story was difficult to hear, there were no cries, no outbursts or sobs. ‘But the most incredible thing about that meeting on 25 December is that as I told them, I realised that his family was exactly how I had pictured them when I had heard the Basque talk about them.’ Beatriz Echavarren, his younger sister, told me that ‘at home we never took down the photos of Rafael, and it was never suggested that we all be miserable forever. But my mother did want to move. Rafael’s apartment was in the building on Ponce Street, and seeing it caused a lot of grief for her.’


One month later, in January 1973, Ricardo Echavarren called Daniel Fernández to tell him that he was going to the mountain to search for Rafael’s body, to bring him home, as the Basque had wanted so much on the mountain. He would be accompanied by the father of Gustavo Nicolich. Ricardo carried his son down the mountain on horseback. When he reached the closest city, San Rafael, he was stopped because he was missing some documentation needed to transport the body. When they finally released the body, he took it home on a Uruguayan Air Force plane. ‘And they buried him in the Buceo Cemetery in plot number 571, the same number of the airplane that fell in the Andes. The survivors and many of the family members of those who didn’t make it out attended the funeral,’ Daniel says. Some of his friends from the Andes were pallbearers.


Numa Turcatti, like the Basque, also was on the plane by random chance. He wasn’t with the Old Christians, and of all those who survived the crash, he knew only Pancho Delgado, his lifelong friend. He turned twenty-five years old on 30 October, while entombed beneath the avalanche. He was muscular, with a lean build, though not very tall. Numa was also a very special person. He helped with all the endless activities on the mountain from the very first, never thinking about the risk to himself, never calculating how much energy he was expending and how much energy he needed to keep for himself. He took part in the expedition on the fourth day, the suicidal expedition on the eleventh day, shortly after hearing on the radio that the search had been called off. He always wanted to go on the final expeditions, even though an injury he had gotten during the avalanche had become infected, and he was growing weaker day by day, his body too defenceless to protect him any longer.


‘Full of love and teaching love since childhood, loved forever, Numa Turcatti,’ as said by Gustavo Lussich, a lifelong school friend of Numa’s at Sacred Heart of the Jesuits in Montevideo. In the plane, in those few tragic days, he gained the affection and admiration of everyone. ‘When I talk about Numa, I can’t help but cry,’ says Coche Inciarte. ‘He’s the best person I’ve ever met in my life. However tenderly I cared for those who were losing heart, Numa did it much better because he never got tired. He was constantly aware of everyone else’s distress. He radiated peace, he never gave up, and when he came near me, I felt like Jesus Christ himself was among us, with such mercy and compassion in his eyes. I don’t know where he got his strength.’


Nando Parrado remembers that Numa saw something very distressing during the expedition on the eleventh day. ‘Gustavo Zerbino didn’t tell us the whole truth because he didn’t want us to be discouraged. When I asked Numa about it, he couldn’t lie and he told me: “As far as we went, all you could see were more mountains.” But even so, he always wanted to be an expeditionary. “I want to go,” he told me, even though I knew at once he could never go, he was too exhausted and too hurt.’ So Numa approached Daniel Fernández, knowing that he had influence over the others, and he tried to convince him: ‘I can do it, Daniel, please believe me. I can do it.’ Daniel recalls, ‘When I told him that his injury made it impossible, he started working even harder than ever, like a bull, shovelling snow to unbury the plane after the avalanche to show that yes, he could do it.’


The more you know his family, the more you understand him. ‘At home we were always taught to respect all people equally,’ says Daniel, his younger brother. ‘We were a simple family, always encouraged to be genuine, without pretence. Effort was valued and Dad led by example, working from dawn to dusk. Mom provided the tenderness, the unconditional love for her children. All our friends always wanted to come to our house. They were always welcome, so the house was always filled with people, including the five siblings, four of them boys. Numa perfectly embodied the motto of the school we went to, ‘ut serviam’, ‘that I may be useful, or to put it another way: ‘to live life so fully that life remains even in death.”


‘They were such a happy family that I spent most of my childhood with them,’ says Numa’s friend, Pancho Delgado. ‘Numa was humble but not meek, he had a temper. Playing football he was a bit of a firecracker, he didn’t tolerate dirty play but he played hard,’ adds his brother Daniel. ‘He didn’t let anyone speak badly about his friends. I never heard him criticise anyone, he was intensely loyal, which may have worked against him on the mountain because he didn’t know how to be selfish.’


‘I could never imagine him living in everyday life, because I met him and I loved him in that torment of the Andes,’ says Coche. ‘He had a hard time eating, like I did. We ate the bare minimum in order to survive. I lost one hundred pounds, he lost more. And just like me, his leg became infected after the avalanche. We operated on our legs together with a razor blade. But he deteriorated more quickly than I did, because he had given so much more; he had been too generous. That’s why Numa was the last to die and the first to sacrifice himself.’


‘Numa sacrificed himself to push the expeditionaries to leave, as if saying: “If I die now, most importantly I won’t suffer anymore. Besides that, I’ll motivate them to leave,”’ says Gustavo Zerbino, who was the one to find the note Numa had written, clutched in his closed hand. ‘With this message he was telling the expeditionaries: “Now it’s your turn.” I looked at Roberto and he said, “Alright, we’ll leave tomorrow.”’ Coche continued: ‘And it never snowed during the ten days of the final expedition, and there was a full moon. They didn’t fall into a crevice and when they stumbled upon a river that could block their way out, they chose the correct way, which allowed them to continue. And in the end they came across a benevolent mule driver.’


Sometime after the return to Montevideo, some of the survivors wanted to visit Numa’s mother (his father had died) to tell her all about her son on the mountain. Numa’s younger brother, Daniel, who was there remembered it like this: ‘Mama listened in total silence. They talked, one by one, while Mama was reliving her son’s life, touching the jagged edges of the hole that could never be filled. Suddenly she asked them, “Did Numa ever let you down?” And to some extent she got the answer she wanted to hear. She was not surprised, but she was comforted to be able to confirm what she had always believed: the death of her son had not been in vain.’


Juan Antonio Bayona


In April 2017, in London, I met Juan Antonio Bayona, a Spanish filmmaker who had in a short time become one of the most celebrated in the world. For the last six years ‘Jota’, as his close friends called him, and his friend and producer Belén Atienza had been very interested in making a film based on the book Society of the Snow. He had stated publicly that the book had been a source of inspiration to him during the filming of his movie The Impossible, and he was constantly reading parts of the book out loud to the actors. Even the title of his movie, The Impossible, was inspired by his persistent fascination with Society of the Snow.


His sensitivity and talent won me over immediately, just as they later charmed the survivors and the families of the dead that he met. We worked for many years on the version that he wanted to make, in Madrid, Barcelona and Montevideo, when in 2018 we once more interviewed at length the survivors and some friends of those who never came down from the mountain. At last Jota found what he considered to be the most appropriate way of telling their story.


On 30 July 2021, we went with Jota Bayona and Gustavo Zerbino to the Library of Our Sons, where we met many of the children of the mothers who promoted the enterprise, in memory of those who never returned from the mountain. Jota wanted to talk about the perspective the film was taking. When he began to explain that those who you’d expect to be heroes in everyday life didn’t necessarily make it in the society of the snow, and instead died quietly after sacrificing themselves and never making it home, his eyes teared up and his voice faltered. Everyone understood perfectly what he meant. He had never met any of these people before, but it was as if he had known them for years, as we brought to life the story of what had happened in the Andes.


Shortly afterward, on 2 August, we went with Jota and the Uruguayan actor who plays Numa, Enzo Vogincic, to see the house where Numa had lived during his twenty-four years of life, on Calle Tapes Street in El Prado, now occupied by an organisation for agricultural development. We were accompanied by the only of Numa’s siblings still alive: Isabel, the youngest, and Daniel. Isabel watched Enzo intently as we walked through the house, the dining room where Numa had studied with his friends, the bedroom he had shared with his brothers, the basement where all the boys played football, with the same wooden closets that still show the marks and dents where the balls hit. Time began to melt away. When we came to the back of the big house, where as children on rainy summer days Numa raced with Daniel from a fountain to the outer gate only to come back soaking wet, Isabel took the hand of Enzo as if her brother had just won another race.


On 8 October 2021, shortly before the actors travelled to Spain for filming (to Barcelona first for the rehearsals, and then to Sierra Nevada, in addition to what was to be filmed in the Argentine and Chilean Andes, Uruguay, Chile and then Spain again), they organised a meeting with the survivors in a Club House in a neighbourhood on the outskirts of Montevideo. The gathering was charged with a unique sort of energy, as if everyone were floating on air. Whichever way you looked, you faced a poignant scene: a group of survivors clustered around the actor playing the captain, Marcelo, looking for physical differences because he looked so much like the real Marcelo; everyone calling Daniel Fernández ‘Francisco’; calling Tintín ‘Agustín’. The survivors called the actors by their own names just as often as their true names, to the point that there was a time when you could hardly tell who was who.


All the survivors spoke and some, like Gustavo Zerbino, spoke of the dead. Then the newest passengers of the airplane spoke. Susy Parrado read a text she had written about death, and everyone said they couldn’t believe their eyes, this couldn’t be real, that they must be dreaming, as Diego Storm said, because Susy was dead.


On 20 January 2022, filming began in Sierra Nevada, Granada, in one of the three fuselages surrounded by snow, recreated accurately down to the finest detail, in Peñones Base Camp. (Another of the fuselages is more than three thousand meters high, up on the mountain, in a landscape remarkably similar to the Valley of Tears, although on a different scale, and the third fuselage is in a valley surrounded by olive trees.) The set was built inside a giant hangar where the destroyed plane was, with fog and digital scenery that recreates the Valley of Tears. The plane had just crashed, it was snowing, and everyone was shivering. Jota Bayona, like some of the actors, had gotten COVID just the week before. He still had two more days of quarantine, so he was directing remotely with a steady and passionate voice booming through a loudspeaker, and nobody could tell where the voice was coming from.


Jota’s voice helped to ground them in that place, in the moment, and in the spiritual environment of the tragedy. A multitude of technicians, photographers, cameramen, gaffers, sound engineers, scriptwriters, costume designers, make-up artists, special effects artists, and doctors were bundled in heavy clothing, with hats, gloves and scarves, moving to and fro, turning lights on and off, moving the airplane seats, moving obstructions and bodies, climbing on scaffolding, operating a gigantic crane, all like shadows. I blinked and they looked like zombies, moving in a chaos that, unlike what really happened up in the Andes, was controlled.


The actors, in short sleeves, shivered and stumbled, trying to understand what happened and where they were, guided by the voice from beyond the grave, which seemed further and further away as time went on. Suddenly the filming halted, and the enormous hangar doors opened. I looked from one side to another and it was the same landscape, the same mountain, the fog, the cold, the blizzard; I looked back and forth and I didn’t know what was real and what was fiction.


The actors came out of the fuselage, some of them dead or about to die, others were being saved, and the voice from beyond continued to guide them. I was as disoriented as they were; for a moment I found myself on the glacier they lived upon in October 1972, bouncing back and forth between life and death. We were being transported.


Pablo Vierci


June 2022









Letter From J. A. Bayona, May 2011


I discovered Society of the Snow during a long research phase for the filming of my last film, The Impossible. Set in Thailand during the 2004 tsunami, the movie was based on the true story of a family who survived the tragedy. Of everything I read during the long pre-filming research process, your book was not only the most enlightening, but also hugely impactful for everyone working on the film, since I shared the joy of reading it with them as if it were a treasure.


The Impossible is infused with your story in the realms where all extreme and profound experiences overlap: the unique human capacity for sacrificing yourself for another; the unknown that gives way to the certainty of death; the relief and the guilt felt by those who survive … the wide and vast range of emotions and experiences that you all had on the mountain kindled a flame in all of us (the technicians, actors and the people who actually lived through the real tsunami) almost blindingly, just as intensely as the sun reflecting off the snow.


Society of the Snow is one of the most amazing, inspiring and profound things I have ever read. Even after so much time has passed, we are still deeply moved by the thought of your story. And I can’t get it out of my head that when I finished the book, I realised I didn’t really know the story I thought I knew, that everything I had seen or read previously was only the tip of the iceberg of what really happened up there, and that the story should be told on the big screen with the same intensity with which I devoured the pages.


Something about your story obsesses me greatly and that is the profoundly human and optimistic view of mankind. I don’t believe that the ‘naked heart’ that Adolfo Strauch speaks of, ‘where one human being gives all of himself for another’, has ever really been portrayed in film. I believe there is no better motivation when it comes to making a film than to highlight the nobility Roberto Canessa refers to when he speaks about ‘the chance to live life for those who did not have the opportunity to do so’. I believe that this story deserves a film that explains the true context of the mountain, one that conveys the cold, the hunger; a film that tells the story in the language it really happened in; a film that above all else transmits the profound spirituality that was born in this society. After all, a spirituality that deep is universal and makes sense of the impossible things you all experienced.


Please let me know if there is anything you want to discuss or any questions you might have. Hoping that I have the chance to talk with you all again, I send you all heartfelt hugs from Spain.


Many thanks,


J. A. Bayona
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March 2006 – Return to the Mountain


CLIMBING UP IN March 2006 to the glacier in the Valley of Tears where the fuselage of the F571 is buried – the plane that fell in October 1972 into the lower slopes of the San Hilario mountain range between the Tinguiririca and Sosneado volcanoes – is a bold and reckless adventure. It requires a long journey, with a slow, two-day ascent on horseback along trails forged by goats or horses which are less than a couple of feet across. There is a precipice to one side, and you are surrounded by a cordillera which constantly changes its scenery and altitude, where the peril of vertigo is always imminent. You progress slowly, step by step, deep into the mountain where torrents of fierce icy water pass and rush down through the cordillera, dragging away everything in their path. The surging waters even seem to want to carry away the horses and mules, which stagger but do not fall. Our decision to wear helmets was a good one, because of the rounded pebbles which fall from a distance with each step you take. Some riders even wear blindfolds in order to avoid panic, trusting in the instincts of the animals.


Every so often a view or an unforeseen circumstance arises that makes you tremble. Storms of wind and snow suddenly break overhead. One mule veers off the trail several feet, kicking up a dust cloud that obscures our view of the scene, until it manages to secure its footing on a slope in the ledge. The rider is hunched forward, holding desperately on to the mane of his horse. Another horse trips, rests one knee on the path, and remains with its hind legs in the air, balancing above the precipice. A pack mule becomes frightened by the strong gusts of wind and runs wildly among the rocks, galloping down the mountain and losing its saddlebags on the trail, while a mounted guide pursues it at top speed. The rules are changing; vertigo is becoming part of the landscape. The group is arriving at prehistory.


When you arrive at the Valley of Tears nearly two days later, almost 13,000ft (4,000m) in altitude and right in the centre of the cordillera of the Andes, on the border between Chile and Argentina, the panorama is grand and terrifying. It looks like a monumental amphitheatre. At the centre, on a promontory of rock, there stands an iron cross where the remains are buried of those who died in the accident. To the south you can make out an interminable succession of mountains and peaks which reach all the way to Cape Horn at the end of the continent. The north is graced with a similar view, the mountains extending towards Panama, unfolding their nearly 4,500 miles (7,200km) of length and forming a range longer than the Himalayas. To the west your gaze is halted by a wall of rocks and ice almost 17,000ft (5,200m) in height, the mountains of San Hilario, so tremendous that you can’t even imagine what the horizon looks like. Behind you, to the east, is the way back into Argentina from where we came on horseback. The endless snowy peaks culminate in the misty distance towards the east in the tallest one of all: the Sosneado volcano, over 19,000ft (5,800m) high. In the middle of that wilderness at the end of the earth an unnatural silence prevails, and the ground shakes from time to time with the violence of the wind and the splintering of the glacier.


It is necessary to leave the horses at this point; they have to descend more than 3,000ft (900m) before the sun sets on the mountains so they don’t freeze to death. Then we must walk another 2,600ft (800m) to the west and to the iron cross, to the exact spot where the fuselage of the Fairchild is buried in the middle of the glacier. There is not much oxygen, and each step requires more effort than the last. The nausea, confusion and headaches from altitude sickness begin to creep in for those of us less accustomed to the high mountains.


There are four survivors in our group from the accident of 1972: Roberto Canessa, Gustavo Zerbino, Adolfo Strauch and Ramon ‘Moncho’ Sabella. We are also accompanied by Juan Pedro Nicola, whose parents died in the crash. Like everyone else in the group he is coming with his child, to show him the tomb where the remains of his grandparents rest, as well as the remains of all the others who never returned. The son watches his father, who is absorbed in thought, his gaze lost in the jagged stone peaks delineating where the plane fell.


When the glacier is near and the walls of snow on the San Hilario mountains loom closer, we must tie ourselves together with rope and put crampons on the soles of our boots before continuing the climb. The glacier with the fuselage in its centre is just there, crisscrossed from one side to the other by crevasses 20m to 30m (70ft to 100ft) in depth, cunningly concealed by thin layers of ice. Three professional Andinists go in front, testing the ground with picks and walking sticks. The four survivors follow a few metres behind. The view that Gustavo Zerbino first saw at 3.35 p.m. on 13 October 1972, just moments after the crash, when the ruined fuselage came to rest in the middle of the glacier after sliding rapidly, zigzagging, avoiding the rocky ridges which peeked up from within the snowy slope – that view has changed little in these thirty-four years. The first thing he saw, to the south, were the steep slopes covered with snow which are now crowned with the stone spires observed only moments before by Juan Pedro Nicola. The highest ones are at the end, one of which hit the left wing and the belly of the airplane as it was travelling with engines at full throttle in a desperate attempt to avoid a collision which, being at that altitude and completely off-course, turned out to be inevitable. The wall of snow-covered rocks to the west, observable from the site of the fuselage, seems lodged in a completely vertical position beyond all human reach. Beyond human reach except to one who would attempt a feat beyond all logic, or at least one who was living in an unrecognisable society.


At 3.37 p.m. on 13 October 1972, Gustavo Zerbino, who at nineteen years old was one of the youngest boys on the mountain, was experiencing these same feelings. He could not breathe, he had no strength, his head was killing him and he felt very confused. It turned out that he was unharmed, and he had to help his friend Roberto Canessa, of the same age, to get out of the trap which was immobilising him, beneath two uprooted seats which had clamped him between sharp and pointed iron bars. Between the two of them, they immediately began to remove the seats that were imprisoning the rest, the injured as well as those who were strong. In order to move the corpses which were tangled in the twisted iron pieces and other wreckage of the plane they had to tie safety belts around their feet and, with the help of several people, drag the bodies out into the snow and put them face down just there, a few metres from the disaster.


Gustavo resolved to help in whatever way he could. There was no time to think, only to work together with Roberto. Roberto, in the meantime, dressed wounds, took the pulse of a dying person, and then dashed off to make an emergency tourniquet to stop Fernando Vásquez from bleeding to death. The propeller on the right wing of the plane had shot off forcefully and, slicing through the body of the airplane, had severed Vásquez’s leg. Then he set the broken leg of Álvaro Mangino. He put it back in its place and then moved him out of the way; that was all he could do. Now Gustavo went on to the next, a friend who was huddled up among the broken metal, trembling, with a wound in his stomach. He quickly stood up to show Gustavo the metal tube that was impaled in his entrails.


‘I’m not in pain, I’m just cold,’ Enrique Platero tells him.


Today everything is intact, as if time has frozen it. There is no rust on the remains of the plane, which are scattered all over the place. The left wing cut down the middle exactly where the propeller used to be shines with clarity, illuminating the inscriptions of ages past: the place of fabrication, the date of production, and various technical notations. But now the sky suddenly clouds over and we have to go back the 800m to the stone promontory where the iron cross stands, and where, to the side, two tents have been erected on the high mountain.


Dark, menacing clouds roll in, warning of wind and snow storms which shake the tents as if they might rip them from the ground. Adolfo Strauch, who in 1972 was one of the oldest boys at twenty-four, announces the imminence of an avalanche. He watches diligently, and soon after his warning he points it out to his daughter, Alejandra, as it causes a giant landslide of the snow built up on the large western wall, letting forth a roar and a trail of vapour with its passage. But here we are, safe, 800m from where the remains of the airplane lie.


Standing close to the iron cross with his arm around Roberto’s shoulder, Gustavo shudders, feeling as if he were reliving the past. The night before, in the base camp of El Barroso in a tent on the high mountain that he shared with one of his children, halfway along the route to the Valley of Tears, he could not fall asleep, plagued with nausea and nightmares. When day broke, he mounted his horse and ascended the glacier in silence, losing himself in the past. By the time we were closing in on the Valley of Tears, he was already back on board the F571 again. Its story now chokes him with sighs, pounding him with memories so vivid that he experiences it all over again, making him take a step backwards, just as he did in 1972 to escape the ghostly wreckage of the broken plane.


In the moment the plane crashed against the stone ridge after hitting a massive air pocket, at exactly 3.30 p.m., he unconsciously took off his seatbelt and got to his feet in the aisle, holding on with all his strength to the metal supports which separated the baggage so he would not fly away on impact. He felt the shock of the plane against the mountain, and then the draughts of freezing wind and snow which were swirling mercilessly over his head, his back and his legs. He counted the endless seconds it took for the broken body of the airplane to slide down the icy slope, until it stopped abruptly, crushing seats and people against the baggage compartment which divided the passengers from the cockpit.


Roberto felt the impact of the wing against the rocks and held on with all his might to the seat in front of him. Loose, confused images and thoughts came impetuously to his mind, all of which amounted to only one thing: he was acting out the drama of an airplane crash in the cordillera of the Andes. Any second now he would crash against the mountain and he would know what lay in wait for him on the other side of life.
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Abandoned: Roberto Canessa


I DON’T KNOW IF there was some mad and wicked scientist who said: ‘Instead of using guinea pigs, let’s put human beings out into the ice. Let them be young so they can resist more and not die as easily from the diseases and injuries they get. Let’s remove the oxygen from the air to make them stagger and hallucinate. The majority will be university students so we can see if they are able to get through it, to see if they organise themselves, if they work as a team, if they plan and creatively resolve their problems. Let’s have them be athletes, too, and see if they have the capacity to survive seventy-two days, while first three and then two of them attempt to walk for ten days to escape their hell, climbing over the towering mountains to get to the valleys below. Let’s discover in that sinister laboratory if a society of the snow forms. Let’s see how long they tolerate it, how many of them are able to endure. If they have survived this far, shivering from the cold and on the edge of panic, then let’s add another trick – crueller yet, more debasing if possible, so that they descend into the depths of the void, and however deep it may be, it will always get worse.’


The most perverse thing about that experience is that I really felt like a guinea pig subjected to a similar punishment, along with the other fifteen survivors.


The ordeal was even more disturbing because we could see it as a laboratory experiment, living through trial and error: how you fail, how you come to make wrong choices and, full of hope, believe that you can see the way out, believe that you can hear the rescue planes. But it is only a mirage. The one who goes south almost dies of exhaustion; another almost goes blind; the one who goes east almost freezes to death. What you learn from your errors, with the peculiarity that you keep trying, is that you must not weaken, you must continue moving even if it is on the wrong path.


We go on degrading ourselves, just tightening the noose around our necks until the unthinkable. At first we begin to eat the muscles of the cadavers, later we are forced to follow with the organs, until at last we have to crack open the skulls with an axe to get to the brains.


We see how many are getting left along the way, those who are forever settled around our final exit, on the improvised route to the west.


In the society of the snow the rules were completely different from those of the society of the living. What was valued was nothing material, but intangible things like everybody being equal, thinking as a group, being brothers, lavishing affections and cherishing hopes. That is the reason why what I want most in my life is to recover that society of the mountain, that unique experience of human behaviour which functioned on the basis of the five simplest concepts I can imagine: teamwork, perseverance, love, intelligence and, above all, hope. But to be able to reproduce this model I must know its answers, I must unravel its mysteries. I cannot imagine for myself a greater poverty or degradation than what we lived through on the mountain. But we came back from the dead and here we are. People ask us to account for it. There are many people today who are climbing their own cordilleras, and I believe that we can lend them the shoes which helped us to escape from our own trap.


We returned to conventional society but we assessed life in a different way, knowing that one glass of water can mean several hours of hard work melting snow with the rays of the sun which peek out between the clouds. Knowing that any old stale piece of bread is infinitely better than what we had to eat on the mountain; how the hardest and dirtiest mattress is much softer than the broken, jagged metal of a frozen fuselage. And knowing that if I have those elements of life then I am a rich man, because I have what I need to survive and the rest depends on me. Because at any moment your airplane could fall out of the sky, and then you realise and appreciate everything you had and all that you have lost.


The world thought that we were dead, and it had good reason. But we were going to keep on trying to survive, and if we succeeded, we would ask society to let us back in. And when we appeared out of the mist, society felt guilty and ignorant because it had been proven wrong in its assumptions. For that reason it welcomed us and grudgingly accepted everything we told it.


We were abandoned by society. Nevertheless our families searched for us with an irrational stubbornness. I, for example, sent mental messages to my girlfriend Lauri that she should continue on with her life, that she should not suffer for me. I begged her not to believe that I would return, that she should free herself from the sadness of loving me and remaining chained to the impossibility of my return.


My father searched for me because he knew that if he had been lost, I would have overturned every stone in search of him, until the last day of my life. My mother searched for me because she knew that I was alive, and Lauri’s father, Luis Surraco, searched for me to console his daughter, to be able to tell her the same things I was telling her: ‘Don’t cry any more, Lauri, rebuild your life, your boyfriend does not exist now outside of photographs and memories.’ When my father and Luis came to look for us on the mountain, Lauri gave her father a pair of bulky woollen socks, a leather jacket and some medicine for the stomach, and she told him: ‘Roberto is very cold, although he is making shelter with all the iron pieces from the plane, which crashed against the mountain, to protect himself.’ Because she thought the same as my mother: she was always convinced that I was alive and shivering in the cold, which was true; that’s why during those seventy-two days on the mountain I wore a heavy woollen sweater which she had knitted for me the year before. My mother, to this day, keeps an eye on my comings and goings because she does not want to lose me again. So, what was real: the rational belief of my father and Luis Surraco or the illogical conviction of my mother and my girlfriend? Everything was so chaotic and the whole world had been turned upside down, so that which was rational overlapped the impossible, and reality was surpassed by utopia.


Seeing as there was no precedent, in the view of society it was impossible that we could have crashed in the mountains and remained alive. It was impossible to endure the cold, it was impossible to cross that wall of snow, rocks and ice, and it was more impossible than anything to continue walking when what we found behind that wall was not the green valleys we had imagined, but instead more endless, white mountains. It was impossible, yes. But the history of the Andes was one continual series of fantasies, of unacceptable and unthinkable situations.


When the idea arose of nourishing ourselves with the dead bodies, it was not so very novel to me. I carried the theoretical basis for it with me, because I had read about metabolism in medicine, which was the subject I was studying. I knew about the Krebs cycle; I knew that protein can transform into sugar and that fat can be converted into protein, and I knew that we would be able to survive solely on meat without dying of starvation. The proteins were right there in the bodies of our friends, but I did not have their permission to touch them. Added to this despair was the fact that I could never seek their permission because they were already dead.


So then I made up the pact for our consciences, which made us say that if I should die, I surrender my body so that the rest can use it. I give myself so that my arms might assist others, that my legs might help them walk and that my muscles might move and form part of the means to live.


When I realised that I could be part of the vital nutrients for those who were still living, all that was left was to cut a piece and swallow it. It was time to take the action which was being delayed, which everyone was waiting for, and I felt that I was one of those who had to carry it out, along with Adolfo Strauch and Gustavo Zerbino. It was a race against time; in this moment I was inspired to lead. Because today or tomorrow I could be one of those that could not go on, in which case I would continue existing but only in the body of the others – and this almost happened to me in the avalanche.


Taking that first step was monumental, even though I only had to walk a few metres to reach the back part of the plane, because its consequences would be irreversible and we would never again be the same. It was a step difficult to fully comprehend, beginning with the act of removing the clothes of someone I knew well and making an unthinkable cut in the frozen flesh. A leap into the void. It was an even greater tragedy than the crash itself because when the plane fell it was due to an external act of aggression, something we couldn’t control. But cutting the bodies was our own choice.


In that moment I felt like the most miserable and wretched person in all the world, asking myself what evil act I had committed to see myself forced to assume such a position of debasement. Those watching us from the fuselage shared that profound sorrow with us. We all suffered in that depraved moment, eating our friends in death. And for that reason we all died a little that day.


I thought of my mother, who had only recently heard of an accident involving another three of my friends from school. They had drowned taking a canoe around the Plata River, right in front of Carrasco beach. My mother had assured me with strong conviction that she would never be able to endure the loss of a son. She could never tolerate the tragedy lived by those three mothers who roamed the beaches in their dreams, night and day, leaving lamps lit and waiting for the return of their sons. I could not fail her. Each one of my friends had a motive just as powerful as mine or even more so which propelled him to swallow that first mouthful. We stopped being those young, happy boys in that instant, transforming into grave old men. Aged, ancient boys scarred by the eating of human flesh, who sink down and continue sinking only to discover that the void has no bottom, because that end only appears when you die.


We came to know the mountain well. We discovered that if the volcano called Sosneado in the east should be covered with clouds, it meant that there would be a storm that night and that we would tremble with cold and fear while the mountain roared, enraged. We learned that the avalanches which we would see moving in the distance could not reach us, but in this we were mistaken, because one of those avalanches buried us and we had to start again from the beginning.


We continued rushing one step at a time down a bottomless pit, because in the first hours after the avalanche we had to eat the bodies of those who were right by our sides. I knew that if I didn’t take this step and show the others that it was our only chance, we would have come to a standstill. I felt that I had to go first and do these things which, in regular life, I never could have imagined. I knew that this would add to the sorrow which would afflict the families of those who would not return. Perhaps my studies in medicine made me visualise the situation as a surgeon, who knows that in order to open the stomach and remove an organ he must succeed in separating the physical from the spiritual.


Buried alive, we learned to wait. It was a decline so intense that we returned to being like a seed – a potential life, in theory, which you can’t be sure will really bud. Once more the rules of the game had changed abruptly without consulting us. The fuselage went from being our shelter and even our home to being a death trap, waiting to betray us at any possible moment.


At one point in that lifeless place I thought we must be turning into wild beasts, that our primal animal part was asserting itself and that it would annihilate the rest of us. But I was wrong. Because, although we had to do things which no animal is accustomed to doing, like eating its own species, we did it by means of a pact of noble generosity, one fundamentally human and that moves me to this day. I could be your food tomorrow. And on the mountain I witnessed gestures of kindness and devotion as I have never seen before or since. Those gestures, particularly those of the badly wounded people who knew they were going to die, oblige you to give all of yourself, down to your last drop of blood.


When I returned to the fuselage from the expeditions to the tail of the plane, I saw as if with new eyes the deteriorated and disfigured boys who were my friends. They had long hair and beards, with filth built up around them, and their faces so gaunt and emaciated. They had terribly dark circles under their eyes, the bones of their brows were jutting out and their cheeks were sunken in, and I suddenly remembered the illustrations of that book by Charles Dickens, A Tale of Two Cities, where the children had the grizzled faces of old men. We were walking skeletons with skin, barely alive, with our lips cracked and dry, accompanied by the permanent smell of a graveyard.


I know both groups because from the beginning I belonged to the community of the airplane; I helped in every way I could and I was the one to attend to the wounded people, with the help of Gustavo Zerbino and Diego Storm. Later I was able to see what it was like in that other world outside the plane, when I had to take care of Gustavo the day he returned shattered from his hike to the southern mountain. He had lost his vision; he felt like he had sand in his eyes. I had to chew his meat and put it in tiny pieces in his mouth because his teeth had all loosened. I had to rub his feet because they had frozen and he couldn’t feel them.


One of my friends, Arturo Nogueira, who had broken both legs, said to me: ‘You are so lucky, Roberto, that you are able to walk for the others.’ It was then I realised that I was the person to do just this. And when you accept that idea, you begin to change in the dreams and the hopes of the others. You walk for you, but you also walk because the others have placed in you a trust and confidence that you don’t share, because you handle the information and the reality which the others cannot know or perceive.


That is how the preparation for the final expedition began, something physically possible but seemingly impossible. Then I thought: ‘I am doing my bit, and I will ask God that if he wants to help us, that he do it. That if a wall is in my way, let that wall have cracks so I will be able to dig in my fingers and toes to climb it. And if there is an obstacle along the trek, just give me a way to avoid it.’


A short while later came the moment of truth, when there were no more volunteers to cross the cordillera. Nando had made a commitment to leave; he had a powerful need to return to his father and tell him, after the death of his mother and his sister, that he had not lost everything. Tintín had already gone on previous expeditions and had felt comfortable and strong on those journeys. He liked to demand the most of himself, and as for the final hike (70km/45 miles) Tintín had no doubt that he could do it. He was ready to give everything of himself, despite the fact that he had lost two litres of blood after the crash which formed a large clot, and he had still not entirely recovered.


That society of the snow was filled with sublime moments, which at any time could throw you again into the deepest uncertainty. The best night, and also one of the worst, was on the first day of the final expedition. It was our sixty-first day, and we were climbing that colossal mountain, Nando, Tintín and I. We climbed the wall throughout the whole day, at such a steep angle that it made us dizzy. We were still climbing much later, when it suddenly got dark and a freezing wind began to blow. Our trousers were soaked and were beginning to freeze, and we could not find a place where we could get shelter and rest, and possibly sleep. Night was falling, and because of that we could no longer see where we were stepping, blind in the middle of those cliffs and crevasses. But just as desperation overcame us and I was crying with frustration because I couldn’t keep the promise I had made to live and to bring life for our friends, we came upon a hidden bend in the mountain. Surprisingly, we found a small stone slope coated with snow and ice, a couple of metres square, where we were able to set down the sleeping bag on top of the seat cushions which insulated us from the cold. We couldn’t believe it, and it was similarly hard to believe that the wind died down almost instantly. The moon appeared in the sky, and before us loomed that infinitely white valley where the plane was, and the stars were so close to us. I thought to myself, ‘It cannot be that I find this beautiful, that I am enjoying this sight, with the three stars of Orion’s Belt and the moon so close to us.’ But it was true. That night I felt that it was a privilege to be in that place, that I must be the only person in the world, along with my two companions, able to see the universe from that perspective. I felt like the moon was a mirror through which I could see my house, and I felt certain that I was going to be able to see it again on my return to Montevideo, when just moments before I had believed that my life was almost over. I learned that night for all time that when you feel yourself lost in the immensity, it is only a feeling.


Men exist for their circumstances. In that sense Nando, Tintín and I formed a team on the mountain. They relied very much on my opinions, and I relied on Nando’s irrepressible will to keep going forward and on Tintín’s staunch certainty before making any decisions. All of these things worked in harmony with each other to form a functional symbiosis. Later, after Tintín had gone back to the plane, Nando and I formed a united and complementary partnership. Finally, we have to add to all this the muleteer Sergio Catalán. During the summer he brings his cows to graze at the ‘summer spot’, as the shepherds call it, an area where here and there fresh green grass grows between the ice patches, and this is where the animals have their young. Because of this he knows them throughout the generations, the mothers and their young, and he must care for them and watch them at every moment because they are prey for pumas. How can he abandon a cow or a calf that he has raised from birth? He has an affiliation with the animals that is difficult to understand if you cannot see it on the mountain. I can’t help linking that fact with his reaction regarding us. How could he abandon two tattered young boys, staggering forward after crossing the cordillera, if he himself is a man of the mountain, a survivor? It was because of this that he had the nobility and the compassion to help us, to make his own long journey to save us. I always believed that there was nothing of chance in the accident. If the same event had happened to us in the proximity of civilisation and not in the Andean cordillera, removed from the hand of God, and we had tried to stop someone on a trail to help us, we might not have had any luck. But we found a good and humble man like Sergio Catalán who was able to leave his work, abandon his cows to the mercy of the pumas, travel eight hours on horseback and ride in a Ministry of Public Works truck to arrive, 50km (30 miles) later, at Punte Negro, where there was a union of carabineers with the sole purpose of helping strangers.


Sometimes I watch the footage they shot of Nando and me when we arrived at Los Maitenes after being rescued by the carabineers. I have an inquisitive gaze which first focuses on my interviewer, but at once it shifts and becomes absorbed in staring somewhere else. I am answering questions, and suddenly I look to the side, no longer listening to what they are saying to me. You don’t only have to listen to Nando’s voice when he says ‘Yes, we are all right’, but to observe the parallel discourse on his face which says something completely different. And in the moment when they ask him how many people are in his family, the camera focuses on me and my gaze loses itself again in the distance.


We showed up on foot in Los Maitenes like ghosts. The fleeting and disoriented society, which was not waiting for us or expecting us, received us with voracity because we had come back from the dead. That was its only motivation and its great curiosity.


We were so accustomed to doing everything for ourselves that we thought when we left the mountain we would arrive in Santiago and find a train station. We had saved money for a train ticket that would cross the cordillera and stop at Buenos Aires. Then we would cross the Plata River in some ship or other and, still walking, reach our houses. We would ring the bell, open the door, and shout out to our families that we were alive. But we hadn’t counted on meeting the muleteer, nor had we expected that the world would feel such a need to remedy its mistake.


We were like a metaphor for that society: if those inexperienced and naive young boys survived the crash of ’72 and overcame the barrier of the Andes, life cannot be so difficult. That is the reasoning of all those people in need of courage, in need of believing in themselves, who come to look for something, unknown even to them, in this Valley of Tears. At almost 4,000m (13,000ft) in altitude the wind blows harshly and there is not enough oxygen to breathe, and the body can never quite heat itself enough. They come to ask themselves how we managed to survive and they get an answer, so simple that it surprises them: we never lost our will to escape, and we always believed with all our strength that extraordinary things were possible. Rather than anchoring ourselves in memories, we made progress and moved forward.


Nowadays I do not still live on the mountain, although I cannot quite remove myself from under its shadow. They asked one of my sons during a television programme if he admired his father for what happened in the Andes, and he answered: ‘I don’t know, because I wasn’t born yet at that time. But I do admire him because he goes to work every day so that we have everything we need to live.’


We have the chance to live life for those who did not have the opportunity to do so, all those who are buried here by this iron cross. And to do them justice I must live a worthy life so that when I die, after making many mistakes, I can tell them this: ‘I know that it wasn’t enough, but I did the best that I could.’


What were we? A group of unlucky young boys. What are we? A group of adult men searching for a reason for the great tragedy which befell us. In the act of telling this story, I never thought I would receive such a special gift. I have gone to Harvard University to talk about medicine, and in that I get the proper response – moderation. They listen to me and it’s enough. But when I talk about the Andes I move them, they cry, they ask questions, they hug me. Because it is a story that the listener takes into their soul; they go away with so much more than they had when they came. I am nothing more than its narrator, with the added fact that I was there. I am the irrefutable proof that it actually happened.


On the mountain there was a way to survive which we had to develop ourselves and implement. I remember exactly how the snow crunched beneath our feet and how it felt to sink into it up to our knees during those thwarted expeditions. And I remember in the final journey, completely exhausted, when my muscles were no longer able to obey my commands. The cold of the evenings stayed with me, the icy wind when the sun set, the roar of the avalanches, the helplessness.


We made an agreement on the mountain that we would stop ourselves from carrying the pride and vanities of the conventional society from which we came. That was an uncontaminated community of friends who embraced each other and apologised for raising their voices or bothering someone else, because the stress we lived with was unbearable, but anxiety caused us more damage than any inflicted harm. The philosophy of the men of the mountain remained; that code the carabineers follow of giving a hand, giving aid, even if it risks your own life.


Returning to the mountain is like being nineteen again. I notice from this great height everything which inspired me to live, and I regret very much that today we are not all returning together, that the others were not allowed to fulfil their destinies and that they were trapped so early on in this ordeal. So it seems to me that we should try and carry out for them all the things in life that they were never able to do. They struggled greatly to survive. They exerted too much strength trying to leave the mountain, and we kept vigilant and did all we could so they would survive, but we did not have enough strength to get them out. I beg your forgiveness, my friends, and I hope that you are at peace and accept that we are living now for you.




Roberto Canessa was born in 1953. He finished his studies in medicine, like his father, which he had begun in 1971, and specialised in infant cardiology. He has received the National Award of Medicine twice. He married his girlfriend of the time, Lauri, with whom he has three children. The oldest, Hilario, received his name in homage to the mountain, over 5,000m (16,400ft) in altitude, which his father climbed with Nando. Their second child, Roberto, studies medicine like his father, and Laura Inés accompanies him on his trips to the mountain with similar strength and daring.


He built a house which is like a labyrinth, branching out in different directions. The door on the street entrance is never locked, for people come and go constantly. Throughout much of his life he has welcomed numerous people in need, who live in the different areas of that intricate house. All of these people have something in common with Roberto: they talk of their love and affections, they tremble with the telling of moving stories, and they weep with the music that touches their souls.
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The First Death – Falling into the Cordillera


GUSTAVO ZERBINO HAD a premonition which put a damper on the cheerful spirit that had been with him on the trip so far. Since seven in the morning of the previous day on 12 October, since the stop in Mendoza, which lay in the foothills of the Argentine cordillera, he had felt a strong foreboding that concerned him deeply. Moments before boarding the plane at the Plumerillo airport in the suburbs of Mendoza he told Esther, the wife of Dr Francisco Nicola who was the doctor for the rugby team, that he didn’t want to get on because he had a feeling that the plane was going to crash. Gustavo wanted Esther to reassure him, but she surprised him with her response: on their way to the airplane stairs she told him that she had been thinking the exact same thing.


At 3.20 on 13 October, exactly ten minutes before the crash, Gustavo suddenly felt uneasy. He was sweating and he couldn’t keep still in his seat, while his friends were joking around and being rowdy. He went back to the last rows of seats in the tail of the plane where three friends from the rugby team, Guido Magri, Gastón Costemalle and Daniel Shaw, were playing cards with two members of the flight crew, the steward Ovidio Joaquín Ramírez and the navigator Ramón Martínez. It surprised Gustavo that the navigator was there when they were flying over the middle of the cordillera, and not in the cockpit with the pilots. So he headed for the other end of the plane and, without knocking, entered the pilots’ cabin. It worried him even more to see that the pilots, Julio Ferradás and Dante Lagurara, were not concentrating on the controls but engaged in light conversation and drinking tea.


‘Isn’t anybody steering?’ he asked.


They agreeably answered that they were travelling in an airplane with the latest technology, with an automatic pilot which ‘practically flies itself’.


‘I thought that a pilot still has to be steering,’ he said to them before leaving.


A few moments later he saw the navigator going towards the cockpit, and then immediately come back out with flight charts and head for the seats in the tail of the plane. Soon after that the violent jolts began, the air pockets, and the peaks of the mountains appeared ominously close when they peeked out from behind the clouds. Another of the crew members came out and ordered all the passengers to take their seats, fasten their seatbelts and keep still. The boisterous clamour of the minutes before gave way to a tense silence.


The Fairchild 571 (F571), a twin-engine turbo jet rented from the Uruguayan Air Force, entered an air pocket with no end, and it felt as if the plane was falling like a rock. Gustavo thought their heads were going to smash against the ceiling of the airplane. An alarm signalling a loss of velocity began to sound shrilly, warning that the plane could fall at any moment. The whole airplane shook as though it were falling apart, lurching violently until, a few seconds later, he heard an explosion which nearly deafened him (either the left wing had hit the rocks or the belly of the airplane had smashed into the mountain). In that moment Gustavo unbuckled his seatbelt, jumped to his feet and held on to the metal of the overhead compartment with all his strength to keep his balance. Just then the airplane broke in two with a horrible screeching metallic sound and a huge hole opened up right behind him. His seat flew out into the air, as did the seat right next to his where his friend Carlos Valeta had been sitting. Gustavo entrusted himself to a higher power and began to repeat ‘Sweet Jesus, don’t leave me, please Jesus, don’t leave me’ while the body of the plane lost momentum and fell violently. It landed hard on the mountain and began sliding in a zigzag down the slope, although it stayed in the exact same position in which it had landed and didn’t turn on its side or bounce into the air. The friction destroyed the floor, which crumpled and twisted, and it tore out all the seats from their anchors.
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